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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

 

FORM 10-Q
 

☒ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

 

For the Quarterly Period Ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024

 

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

 

For the Transition Period from ___________ to ___________

 

Commission File Number: 001-40739

 

DERMATA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in the charter)

 

Delaware 86-3218736

(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer

incorporation or organization) Identification Number)

 

3525 Del Mar Heights Rd., #322, San Diego, CA 92130

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip

3525 Del Mar Heights Rd., #322, San Diego, CA 92130

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

 

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: 858-800-2543

 

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

 

Title of each class   Trading Symbol(s)   Name of each exchange on which registered

Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share   DRMA   The Nasdaq Capital Market

Warrants, exercisable for one share of Common Stock   DRMAW   The Nasdaq Capital Market

 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12

months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. ☒ Yes ☐ No.

 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of

this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). ☒ Yes ☐ No.

 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company.

See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

 

Large accelerated filer ☐ Accelerated filer ☐

Non-accelerated Filer ☒ Smaller reporting company ☒

    Emerging growth company ☒

 

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting

standards pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☒
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). ☐ Yes ☒ No.

 

There were 3,189,034 6,660,840 shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 of Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. issued and outstanding as of November 9, 2023 May 3, 2024.
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Part I

 

Item 1: Financial Statements

 

DERMATA THERAPEUTICS, INC.

Balance Sheets

 

 
September 30,

2023
   

December 31,

2022
   

March 31,

2024
   

December 31,

2023
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  (unaudited)         (unaudited)    

Assets:                    

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 6,631,483   $ 6,241,294     $ 4,733,681   $ 7,438,135  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets     691,900       703,194       446,075       540,499  

Total assets   $ 7,323,383     $ 6,944,488     $ 5,179,756     $ 7,978,634  

                   

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity:                    

Liabilities:                    

Accounts payable   $ 474,458   $ 496,702     $ 822,546   $ 866,028  

Accrued and other current liabilities     442,359       425,932       549,220       757,588  

Total liabilities   916,817   922,634     1,371,766   1,623,616  

Commitments and Contingencies (see Note 6)                    

Stockholders’ Equity:                    

Common Stock, par value $0.0001, 250,000,000 shares authorized, and 3,189,034 shares

issued and outstanding as of September 30, 2023; and 250,000,000 shares authorized,

and 770,115 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2022, respectively.

 

319

 

77

 

Common Stock, par value $0.0001, 250,000,000 shares authorized; 6,660,840 shares

issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2024; 3,930,840 shares issued and outstanding as

of December 31, 2023, respectively.

 

666

 

393

 

Additional paid-in capital   57,660,152   51,614,965     60,329,464   59,742,503  

Accumulated deficit     (51,253,905 )     (45,593,188 )     (56,522,140 )     (53,387,878 )
Total stockholders’ equity     6,406,566       6,021,854       3,807,990       6,355,018  

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 7,323,383     $ 6,944,488     $ 5,179,756     $ 7,978,634  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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DERMATA THERAPEUTICS, INC.

Statements of Operations

(unaudited)

 

 
For the three months ended

September 30,
 

For the nine months ended

September 30,
   

For the three months ended

March 31,
 

  2023     2022     2023     2022     2024   2023  

Operating expenses:                              

Research and development   $ 902,977   $ 1,553,295   $ 2,934,541   $ 4,761,686     $ 1,600,741     $ 1,192,633  

General and administrative     909,001       892,777       2,887,533       3,201,111       1,602,819       1,085,049  

Total operating expenses     1,811,978       2,446,072       5,822,074       7,962,797       3,203,560       2,277,682  

Loss from operations     (1,811,978 )     (2,446,072 )     (5,822,074 )     (7,962,797 )     (3,203,560 )     (2,277,682 )

Other income and expenses:                                  

Interest income, net     92,767       21,486       161,357       21,486       69,298       37,540  

Net loss   $ (1,719,211 )   $ (2,424,586 )   $ (5,660,717 )   $ (7,941,311 )   $ (3,134,262 )   $ (2,240,142 )

Net loss per share of common

stock, basic and diluted
 

$ (0.54 )
 

$ (3.16 )
 

$ (2.46 )
 

$ (11.96 )
 
$ (0.47 )

 
$ (2.27 )

Weighted-average basic and

diluted shares
   

3,189,034
     

767,275
     

2,301,360
     

663,892
     

6,660,840
     

985,848
 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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DERMATA THERAPEUTICS, INC.

Statements of Stockholder’s Equity

(unaudited)

 

             Additional          Total  

     Common Stock      Paid-in      Accumulated      Stockholders’  

     Shares     Par Value      Capital      Deficit     Equity  

Balance at December 31, 2022     770,115     $ 77     $ 51,614,965     $ (45,593,188 )   $ 6,021,854  

Stock-based compensation     -       -       131,260       -       131,260  

Issuance of Common Stock and warrants, net of issuance costs     85,000       9       4,174,976       -       4,174,985  

Issuance of Common Stock upon exercise of pre-funded warrants     1,533,123       153       -       -       153  

Settlement of fractional shares paid in cash     (81 )     -       (40 )     -       (40 )

Net loss     -       -       -       (2,240,142 )     (2,240,142 )

Balance at March 31, 2023     2,388,157     $ 239     $ 55,921,161     $ (47,833,330 )   $ 8,088,070  

Stock-based compensation     -       -       131,177       -       131,177  

Issuance of Common Stock and warrants, net of issuance costs     458,555       46       1,512,056       -       1,512,102  

Issuance of Common Stock upon exercise of pre-funded warrants     342,322       34       -       -       34  

Net loss     -       -       -       (1,701,364 )     (1,701,364 )

Balance at June 30, 2023     3,189,034     $ 319     $ 57,564,394     $ (49,534,694 )   $ 8,030,019  

Stock-based compensation     -       -       131,177       -       131,177  

Issuance costs     -       -       (35,419 )     -       (35,419 )

Net loss     -       -       -       (1,719,211 )     (1,719,211 )

Balance at September 30, 2023     3,189,034     $ 319     $ 57,660,152     $ (51,253,905 )   $ 6,406,566  

             Additional          Total  

     Common Stock      Paid-in      Accumulated      Stockholders’  

     Shares     Par Value      Capital      Deficit     Equity  

Balance at December 31, 2023     3,930,840     $ 393     $ 59,742,503     $ (53,387,878 )   $ 6,355,018  

Stock-based compensation     -       -       587,234       -       587,234  

Issuance of abeyance shares     2,730,000       273       (273 )     -       -  

Net loss     -       -       -       (3,134,262 )     (3,134,262 )

Balance at March 31, 2024     6,660,840     $ 666     $ 60,329,464     $ (56,522,140 )   $ 3,807,990  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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DERMATA THERAPEUTICS, INC.

Statements of Stockholder’s Equity

(unaudited)

 

           Additional       Total              Additional        To

   Common Stock    Paid-in    Accumulated    Stockholders’      Common Stock    Paid-in    Accumulated    Stockholders’  

   Shares     Par Value      Capital      Deficit     Equity      Shares     Par Value      Capital      Deficit     Equity  
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Balance at

December

31, 2021

   

520,539
   

$ 52
   

$ 46,089,327
   

$ (35,982,275 )

 

$ 10,107,104
 

Balance at

December

31, 2022

   

770,115
   

$ 77
   

$ 51,614,965
   

$ (45,593,188 )

 

$ 6,021,854
 

Stock-based

compensation
 

-
 

-
 

531,566
 

-
 

531,566
   

-
 

-
 

131,260
 

-
 

131,260
 

Net loss     -       -       -       (2,786,151 )     (2,786,151 )
Balance at

March 31,

2022

   

520,539
   

$ 52
   

$ 46,620,893
   

$ (38,768,426 )

 

$ 7,852,519
 

Issuance of

common

stock and

warrants, net

of issuance

costs

 

56,162

 

6

 

4,276,359

 

-

 

4,276,365

   

85,000

 

9

 

4,174,976

 

-

 

4,174,985

 

Issuance of

common

stock upon

exercise of

pre-funded

warrants

 

54,688

 

5

 

82

 

-

 

87

   

1,533,123

 

153

 

-

 

-

 

153

 

Issuance of

restricted

stock unit

awards

 

-

 

-

 

55,625

 

-

 

55,625

 

Stock-based

compensation
 

-
 

-
 

205,947
 

-
 

205,947
 

Settlement of

fractional

shares paid in

cash

 

(81 )

 

-

 

(40 )

 

-

 

(40 )
Net loss     -       -       -       (2,730,573 )     (2,730,573 )     -       -       -       (2,240,142 )     (2,240,142 )
Balance at

June 30,

2022

   

631,389
   

$ 63
   

$ 51,158,906
   

$ (41,498,999 )

 

$ 9,659,970
 

Issuance of

common

stock upon

exercise of

pre-funded

warrants

 

125,000

 

13

 

187

 

-

 

200

 

Issuance of

restricted

stock unit

awards

 

-

 

-

 

55,625

 

-

 

55,625

 

Stock-based

compensation
 

-
 

-
 

179,358
 

-
 

179,358
 

Net loss     -       -       -       (2,424,586 )     (2,424,586 )
Balance at

September

30, 2022

   

756,389
   

$ 76
   

$ 51,394,076
   

$ (43,923,585 )

 

$ 7,470,567
 

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

7/35

Balance at

March 31,

2023

   

2,388,157
   

$ 239
   

$ 55,921,161
   

$ (47,833,330 )

 

$ 8,088,070
 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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DERMATA THERAPEUTICS, INC.

Statements of Cash Flows

(unaudited)

 

 
For the nine months ended

September 30,
   

For the three months ended

March 31,
 

  2023     2022     2024     2023  

Cash flows from operating activities:                    

Net loss   $ (5,660,717 )   $ (7,941,311 )   $ (3,134,262 )   $ (2,240,142 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:                    

Stock-based compensation   393,614   709,435     587,234   131,260  

Increase (decrease) in cash resulting from changes in:                    

Prepaid expenses and other current assets   11,294   (82,933 )   94,424   174,848 )
Accounts payable   (22,244 )   (31,504 )   (43,482 )   (3,831 )
Accrued and other current liabilities     16,427       337,677       (208,368 )     288,232  

Total adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operations     399,091       932,675       429,808       590,509  

Net cash used in operating activities     (5,261,626 )     (7,008,636 )     (2,704,454 )     (1,649,633 )
Cash flows from financing activities:                    

Proceeds from issuance of Common Stock and warrants, net of expenses   5,651,668   4,276,365  

Proceeds from issuance of Common Stock and warrants, net of issuance costs   -   4,174,985  

Proceeds from exercise of pre-funded warrants   187   287     -   153  

Payment for fractional shares in reverse stock split     (40 )     -       -       (40 )
Net cash provided by financing activities     5,651,815       4,276,652       -       4,175,098  

Net increase (decrease) in Cash and cash equivalents   390,189   (2,731,984 )   (2,704,454 )   2,525,465  

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period     6,241,294       10,798,806       7,438,135       6,241,294  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 6,631,483   $ 8,066,822     $ 4,733,681   $ 8,766,759  

                   

Supplemental disclosure:          

Cash paid for taxes   $ 950   $ 800  

Non-cash financing activities:          

Issuance of abeyance shares   $ (273 )   $ -  

Incremental fair value of March 2023 warrant modification   $   -   $  144,765  

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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DERMATA THERAPEUTICS, INC.

Notes to Financial Statements

(unaudited)
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1. Organization and Basis of Presentation

 

Dermata Therapeutics, Inc., (the “Company”), was formed in December 2014 as a Delaware limited liability company (“LLC”) under the name Dermata Therapeutics, LLC.

On March 24, 2021, the Company converted from an LLC to a Delaware C-corporation and changed its name to Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. The Company is a clinical-stage

biotechnology company focused on the treatment of medical and aesthetic skin conditions and diseases.

 

Initial Public Offering

 

On August 17, 2021, the Company completed its initial public offering (“IPO”), in which it sold 160,714 shares of its common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (“Common

Stock”), together with 160,714 warrants to purchase one share of Common Stock with an exercise price of $112.00 per share, at a combined offering price of $112.00. Additionally,

the underwriters exercised their option to purchase an additional 24,106 warrants to purchase Common Stock with an exercise price of $112.00 per share, resulting in total IPO

warrants issued of 184,820 at an exercise price of $112.00. The Company received net cash proceeds of approximately $15.4 million from the IPO after deducting underwriters’

discounts and offering expenses of approximately $2.6 million.

 

The Company’s shares of Common Stock and warrants are listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (“Nasdaq”) under the symbols “DRMA,” and “DRMAW,” respectively, and

both began trading in August 2021.

 

Reverse Stock Split

 

On March 13, 2023, the Company effected a reverse stock split of shares of the Company’s Common Stock at a ratio of 1-for-16 pursuant to an amendment to the

Company’s certificate of incorporation approved by the Company’s board of directors and stockholders. The par value was not adjusted as a result of the reverse split. All issued

and outstanding shares of Common Stock and per share amounts contained in the financial statements have been retroactively adjusted to reflect this reverse stock split for all

periods presented.

 

Liquidity and Going Concern Uncertainty

 

Since its inception, the Company has devoted substantially all of its resources to research and development activities and has not generated any revenue or commercialized

any product candidates. As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, cash and cash equivalents totaled $6.6 million $4.7 million and the Company had an accumulated deficit of

$51.3 million $56.5 million. For the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, and the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the Company used

cash of $5.3 million $2.7 million and $8.8 million $6.4 million, respectively, in operations. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are expected to fund operations into the

second third quarter of 2024. The Company anticipates that it will continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable future. These factors raise substantial doubt about the Company’s

ability to continue as a going concern for the one-year period following the date that these financial statements were issued.

 

8

Table of Contents
Historically, the Company’s principal sources of cash have included proceeds from the issuance of common and preferred equity securities and proceeds from the issuance

of debt. The Company’s principal uses of cash have included cash used in operations and payments for license rights. The Company expects that the principal uses of cash in the

future will be for continuing operations, funding of research and development, conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials, and general working capital requirements. The

Company expects that as research and development expenses continue to grow, it will need to raise additional capital to sustain operations and research and development. The

accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. The financial statements do not include any adjustments to

reflect the possible future effects on the recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts and classification of liabilities that may result from the possible inability of the

Company to continue as a going concern.

8
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Management’s Plan to Continue as a Going Concern

 

To continue as a going concern, the Company will need, among other things, to raise additional capital resources. Until the Company can generate significant cash from

operations, management’s plans to obtain such resources for the Company include proceeds from offerings of the Company’s equity securities or debt, or transactions involving

product development, technology licensing or collaboration. Management can provide no assurance that any sources of a sufficient amount of financing or collaboration agreements

will be available to the Company on favorable terms, if at all. The Company’s ability to raise additional capital may be adversely impacted by potential worsening of global economic

conditions, potential future global pandemics or health crises, and the recent disruptions to, and volatility in, the credit and financial markets in the United States.

The Company has raised additional capital through the initial public offering  Because of its Common Stock historical and warrants, as well as a private placement financing

in April 2022, an at-the-market public offering in March 2023, expected operating losses and an at-the-market private placement in May 2023; however,  prior completed

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

9/35

financings do not alleviate net operating cash flow deficits, there is substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for one year from the issuance of

the financial statements, which is not alleviated by management’s plans. The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a

going concern. The financial statements do not include any adjustments to reflect the possible future effects on the recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts and

classification of liabilities that may result from the possible inability of the Company to continue as a going concern.

 

Basis of Presentation

 

The accompanying unaudited financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States

(“GAAP”) for interim financial information and in accordance with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, since they are interim

statements, the accompanying financial statements do not include all of the information and notes required by GAAP for complete financial statements. In the opinion

of management, the accompanying financial statements reflect all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments) that are necessary for a fair statement of

the financial position, results of operations, cash flows, and stockholders’ equity for the interim periods presented. Interim results are not necessarily indicative of

results for a full year. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the

amounts reported in the financial statements and the accompanying notes. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates. The unaudited financial

statements included in this Form 10-Q should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report

on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, filed with the SEC on March 21, 2024, which includes a broader discussion of the Company’s business and the

risks inherent therein.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

 

Use of Estimates

 

The Company’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires management to

make estimates and assumptions that impact the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in the

financial statements and accompanying notes. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates these estimates and judgments, including those related to accrued

research and development expenses, stock-based compensation, and the estimated fair values of equity instruments. expenses. Management evaluates its estimates

on an ongoing basis. The Company bases its estimates on various assumptions that it believes are reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from

these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

 

Segment Information

 

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate discrete information is available for evaluation by the chief operating

decision maker, or decision-making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The Company and the Company’s chief operating

decision maker view the Company’s operations and manage its business in one operating segment, which is the business of developing and commercializing

pharmaceuticals. The Company operates in only one segment. 

9
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

 

The Company deposits its cash and cash equivalents with reputable accredited financial institutions that are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance

Corporation (“FDIC”), which are held in checking and cash sweep accounts. At times, deposits held may exceed the amount of insurance provided by the FDIC. The

Company maintains an insured cash sweep account in which cash from its main operating checking account is invested overnight in highly liquid, short-term

investments. The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity date of 90 days or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents. The Company is

exposed to credit risk in the event of a default by the financial institutions holding the Company’s cash and cash equivalents to the extent of the amounts held in

excess of FDIC limits. The Company limits its credit risk by placing its cash and cash equivalents with financial institutions it believes are of high quality. To date, the

Company has not experienced any losses on its deposits of cash and cash equivalents.
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Fair Value Measurement

 

The Company uses a three-tier fair value hierarchy to prioritize the inputs used in the Company’s fair value measurements. These tiers include Level 1, defined

as observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either

directly or indirectly observable; and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop its own

assumptions. The Company believes the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate their estimated fair

values due to the short-term nature of these assets and liabilities.

 

Interest Income

 

Interest income consists of interest income earned on cash and cash equivalents from interest bearing demand accounts.

 

Patent Costs

 

                Patent costs related to obtaining and maintaining patent protection in both the United States and other countries are expensed as incurred. Patents costs are

classified as general and administrative expenses.

 

Research and Development 

 

Research and development costs consist of expenses incurred in connection with the development of the Company’s product candidates. Such expenses

include expenses incurred under agreements with contract research organizations, manufacturing and supply scale-up expenses and the cost of acquiring and

manufacturing preclinical and clinical trial supply, outsourced laboratory services, including materials and supplies used to support the Company’s research and

development activities, and payments made for license fees and milestones that have not been demonstrated to have commercial value. Such costs are expensed in

the periods in which they are incurred. Upfront payments and milestone payments for licensed technology are expensed as research and development as incurred or

when the milestone is achieved or is determined to be probable of being achieved. Advanced payments for goods or services to be received in the future for research

and development activities are recorded as prepaid expenses and expensed as the related goods are received or services are performed.

 

Income Taxes

 

From inception until March 24, 2021, the The Company operated as a limited liability company taxed as a partnership. Therefore, any income tax liability or benefit

through that date accrued to the Company’s members. Since March 24, 2021, the Company has operated as is a C-Corporation and accounts for income taxes under the

asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been

included in the financial statements. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined on the basis of the differences between the financial

statements and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in

tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.
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The Company recognizes net deferred tax assets to the extent that the Company believes these assets are more likely than not to be realized. In making such a

determination, management considers all available positive and negative evidence, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected

future taxable income, tax-planning strategies, and results of recent operations. If management determines that the Company would be able to realize its deferred tax

assets in the future in excess of their net recorded amount, management would make an adjustment to the deferred tax asset valuation allowance, which would reduce

the provision for income taxes.

 

The Company records uncertain tax positions on the basis of a two-step process whereby (1) management determines whether it is more likely than not that the

tax positions will be sustained on the basis of the technical merits of the position and (2) for those tax positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition

threshold, management recognizes the largest amount of tax benefit that is more than 50 percent likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the related tax

authority. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within income tax expense. Any accrued interest and penalties are

included within the related tax liability.

 

Stock-Based Compensation
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In March 2021, the Company’s board of directors and shareholders approved the Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. 2021 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021

Plan”). For stock options granted under the 2021 Plan, the The Company measures and recognizes compensation expense for all stock-based awards made to

employees, directors, and non-employees, based on estimated fair values recognized using the straight-line method over the requisite service period. The fair value of

options to purchase Common Stock granted to employees is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The calculation of stock-based

compensation expense requires that the Company make certain assumptions and judgments about variables used in the Black-Scholes model, including the expected

term of the stock-based award, expected volatility of the underlying Common Stock, dividend yield, and the risk-free interest rate. Forfeitures are accounted for in the

period they occur. Restricted stock units (“RSUs”) granted under the Company’s 2021 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”) are measured at the grant date

fair value of the Common Stock, with corresponding compensation expense recognized ratably over the requisite service period. Refer to Note 5 - Equity Incentive Plan

for further discussion.

 

Warrants

The Company performs an assessment of warrants upon issuance to determine their proper classification in the financial statements based upon the warrant’s

specific terms, in accordance with the authoritative guidance provided in Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 480

Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity, and ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging. The assessment considers whether the warrants are freestanding financial instruments

pursuant to ASC 480 and whether the warrants meet all of the requirements for equity classification under ASC 815, including whether the warrants are indexed in the

Company’s own common stock and whether the warrant holders could potentially require cash settlement of the warrants.

12

Table of Contents
For issued or modified warrants that meet all the criteria for equity classification, the warrants are required to be recorded as a component of additional paid-in

capital. For issued or modified warrants that do not meet all the criteria for equity classification, the warrants are required to be liability-classified and recorded at their

initial fair value on the date of issuance and remeasured at fair value at each balance sheet date thereafter. The Company has performed an assessment of all warrants

issued and modified and determined that the Company’s warrants are equity-classified.   

Comprehensive Loss

 

Comprehensive loss includes net loss and other comprehensive income (loss) for the periods presented. The Company did not have other comprehensive

income (loss) items such as unrealized gains and losses and so for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023, and 2022, periods presented, comprehensive

loss was equal to the net loss.

 

Net Loss Per Share of Common Stock 

 

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing net loss attributable to common shareholders by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during

the period, period. The weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding includes (i) contingently issuable restricted stock units for which no future

service is required as a condition to the delivery of the underlying Common Stock, and (ii) pre-funded warrants because their exercise requires only nominal

consideration for the delivery of shares, and (iii) shares held in abeyance because there is no consideration required for delivery of the shares, (collectively, “basic

shares”), without consideration of common share equivalents. Diluted net loss per share is calculated by adjusting basic shares outstanding for the dilutive effect of

common share equivalents outstanding for the period. For purposes of the diluted net loss per share calculation, preferred shares, stock options and warrants to

purchase preferred shares are considered to be common share equivalents but are excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per common share if their effect

would be anti-dilutive.

11
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As the Company has reported a net loss for the periods presented, diluted net loss per common share is the same as the basic net loss per common share for

the periods presented.

   
Three Months Ended

September 30,
   

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
 

    2023     2022     2023      2022  

                         

Net loss   $ (1,719,211 )   $ (2,424,586 )   $ (5,660,717 )   $ (7,941,311 )

                                 

Weighted-average basic and diluted common shares     3,189,034       767,275       2,301,360       663,892  

                                 

Basic and diluted net loss per common share   $ (0.54 )   $ (3.16 )   $ (2.46 )   $ (11.96 )
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The common share equivalents that are not included in the calculation of diluted net loss per common share but could potentially dilute basic earnings per

share in the future are as follows:

 

    As of September 30,  

    2023     2022  

Common Stock options     102,074       66,020  

Common Stock warrants     4,643,555       437,113  

Total potentially dilutive securities     4,745,629       503,133  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For the nine months ended September 30, 2023, the Company has reviewed recent accounting standards and does not expect the future adoption of recently

issued accounting pronouncements to have a material impact on the Company's financial position and results of operations.

    As of March 31,  

    2024     2023  

Common Stock options     410,243       102,074  

Common Stock warrants     8,358,697       3,786,617  

Total potentially dilutive securities     8,768,940       3,888,691  
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For the quarter ended March 31, 2024, the Company has reviewed recent accounting standards and identified the following as relevant to the Company.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. ASU 2023-09 requires disaggregated

information about a reporting entity’s effective tax rate reconciliation as well as information on income taxes paid. ASU 2023-09 is effective for public entities with

annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on its financial

statements and income tax footnote.

 

3. Balance Sheet Details

 

The following provides certain balance sheet details:

 

  September 30,   December 31,     March 31,   December 31,  

  2023     2022     2024     2023  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets:                    

Prepaid insurance   $ 586,359   $ 586,407     $ 255,020   $ 426,413  

Prepaid research and development costs   76,216   92,581     92,899   91,232  

Prepaid other   29,249   11,604  

Interest receivable     76       12,602  

Prepaid other and other current assets     98,156       22,854  

Total prepaid expenses and other current assets   $ 691,900     $ 703,194     $ 446,075     $ 540,499  

                   

Accrued and other current liabilities:                    

Accrued research and development costs   $ 40,904   $ 254,787     $ 282,876   $ 40,596  

Accrued compensation and benefits   329,049   170,389     230,815   716,490  

Accrued legal fees   72,402   -  

Accrued other     4       756       35,529       502  

Total accrued and other current liabilities   $ 442,359     $ 425,932     $ 549,220     $ 757,588  

 

4. Equity Securities

A summary of the Company’s equity securities as of March 31, 2024, is as follows:

Description   Authorized     Issued     Reserved     Outstanding  

Common Stock, par value $0.001     250,000,000       6,660,840       -       6,660,840  

Preferred Stock     10,000,000       -       -       -  
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Warrants     -       8,358,697       -       8,358,697  

2021 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan     -       423,961       205,108       410,243  

Total equity securities     260,000,000       15,443,498       205,108       15,429,780  

 

Common Stock

On November 20, 2023, the Company closed on an inducement agreement (the “Inducement”) with a holder (the “Holder”) of certain of its existing warrants to

purchase up to 3,472,095 shares of the Company’s common stock, issued to the Holder on (i) April 25, 2022 (as amended on March 20, 2023, the “April 2022 Warrants”)

and (ii) March 20, 2023 (the “March 2023 Warrants” together with the April 2022 Warrants, the “Existing Warrants”). The Existing Warrants had an exercise price of

$2.82. Pursuant to the Inducement, the Holder agreed to exercise for cash its Existing Warrants at a reduced exercise price of $0.6511 per share in consideration for the

Company’s agreement to issue in a private placement (i) new series A Common Stock purchase warrants (the “November 2023 Series A Common Warrants”) to

purchase 3,707,944 shares of Common Stock and (ii) new series B Common Stock purchase warrants (the “November 2023 Series B Common Warrants” and together

with the November 2023 Series A Common Warrants, the “New Warrants”) to purchase 3,236,246 shares of Common Stock . The New Warrants are exercisable subject

to stockholder approval, which the Company received at a stockholder meeting on January 12, 2024. The Company received net cash proceeds of approximately $2.0

million from the Inducement after deducting underwriters’ discounts and offering expenses of approximately $0.3 million.
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Related to the November 2023 Inducement, as of December 31, 2023, the Holder left 2,730,000 shares in abeyance at the Company’s transfer agent to be

delivered to the Holder at their request, which were then delivered to the Holder on January 8, 2024. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2023, 2,730,000 shares were held

in abeyance, which were not issued and not outstanding. As of March 31, 2024, no shares were held in abeyance.

 

On May 26, 2023, the Company closed a private placement (the “2023 PIPE”) priced at the market under Nasdaq rules, in which it sold 458,555 shares of its

Common Stock together with 342,322 pre-funded warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 342,322 shares of Common Stock with an exercise price of $0.0001 per

share (the “May 2023 Pre-Funded Warrants”), and 800,877 warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 800,877 shares of Common Stock with an exercise price of $2.16

per share (the “May 2023 PIPE Common Warrants”) at a combined offering price of $2.285. The May 2023 PIPE Common Warrants are set to expire on November 27,

2028. The Company received net cash proceeds of approximately $1.5 million from the 2023 PIPE after deducting underwriters’ discounts and offering expenses of

approximately $0.3 million. The May 2023 Pre-Funded Warrants were exercised fully during the second quarter of 2023, and no May 2023 Pre-Funded Warrants were

outstanding as of September 30, 2023. 2023.

 

On March 20, 2023, the Company closed a public offering (the “March 2023 Offering”) priced at the market under Nasdaq rules, in which it sold an aggregate of

(i) 85,000 shares of Common Stock, (ii) pre-funded warrants (the “March 2023 Pre-Funded Warrants”) to purchase up to an aggregate of 1,533,123 shares of Common

Stock with an exercise price of $0.0001 per share, (iii) Series A warrants (the “Series “March 2023 Series A Common Warrants”) to purchase up to an aggregate of

1,618,123 shares of Common Stock, and (iv) Series B warrants (the “Series “March 2023 Series B Common Warrants” and collectively with the March 2023 Series A

Common Warrants, the “2023 “March 2023 Offering Warrants”) to purchase up to an aggregate of 1,618,123 shares of Common Stock. The March 2023 Offering

Warrants have had an exercise price of $2.82 per share. The Company received net cash proceeds of approximately $4.2 million after deducting the underwriter’s

discounts and offering expenses of approximately $0.8 million. The March 2023 Pre-Funded Warrants were fully exercised during the first quarter of 2023, and no the

March 2023 Pre-Funded Offering Warrants were outstanding exercised as part of September 30, 2023.  the Inducement in November 2023.
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On April 25, 2022, the Company closed a private placement (the “April 2022 PIPE”), in which it sold 56,161 shares of its Common Stock together with 179,687

pre-funded warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 179,687 shares of Common Stock with an exercise price of $0.0001 per share (the “April 2022 PIPE Pre-Funded

Warrants”), and 235,849 warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 235,849 shares of Common Stock with an exercise price of $21.20 per share (the “April 2022 PIPE

Common Warrants”) at a combined offering price of $21.20. The April 2022 PIPE Common Warrants related to the private placement were to expire on May 12, 2027. The

Company received net cash proceeds of approximately $4.3 million from the April 2022 PIPE after deducting underwriters’ discounts and offering expenses of

approximately $0.7 million. The April 2022 PIPE Pre-Funded Warrants were fully exercised during 2022, and no the April 2022 PIPE Pre-Funded Common Warrants were

exercised as part of the Inducement in November 2023.
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Preferred Stock

While the Company has 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized with a par value of $0.0001, no shares of preferred stock are outstanding as of

December 31, 2022 March 31, 2024 or December 31, 2023, respectively.

Warrants

Summary of Warrants Outstanding
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The table below lists outstanding warrants for the dates presented. The warrants outstanding at March 31, 2024 are exercisable into 8,358,697 shares of common

stock which had a fair value of $0.4108 per share, based on the closing trading price on March 28, 2024. The aggregate intrinsic value of warrants outstanding as of

March 31, 2024, is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the warrants and the closing market price of the Company’s Common Stock on that date.

The intrinsic value of warrants outstanding as of March 31, 2024, was zero due to the warrants’ exercise prices being above market value.

    Quantity of Warrants Outstanding as of            

Description
 

March 31, 2024
   

December 31,

2023
   

Exercise Price
   

Expiration Date
 

Pre-IPO Series 1a Warrants     4,321       4,321     $ 328.00     11/15/2026  

Pre-IPO Class B Common Warrants     4,077       4,077       91.84     12/31/2024  

IPO Warrants     184,820       184,820       112.00     8/17/2026  

IPO Underwriter Warrants     8,035       8,035       128.80     8/17/2026  

March 2023 Offering Placement Agent Warrants     113,269       113,269       3.8625     3/16/2028  

May 2023 PIPE Common Warrants     800,877       800,877       2.16     11/27/2028  

May 2023 PIPE Placement Agent Warrants     56,061       56,061       2.8563     5/23/2028  

November 2023 Series A Common Warrants     3,707,944       3,707,944       0.6511     11/20/2028  

November 2023 Series B Common Warrants     3,236,246       3,236,246       0.6511     3/20/2026  

November 2023 Offering Placement Agent Warrants     243,047       243,047       0.8139     11/20/2028  

Total warrants outstanding     8,358,697       8,358,697                
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Warrant Inducement

In November 2023, the Company completed the Inducement, in which a Holder agreed to exercise 3,472,095 common warrants to purchase Common Stock at a

reduced exercise price of $0.6511 per share in exchange for the 3,707,944 November 2023 Series A Common Warrants and 3,236,246 November 2023 Series B Common

Warrants with an exercise price of $0.6511 per share. The New Warrants are exercisable subject to stockholder approval, which the Company received at a stockholder

meeting on January 12, 2024. The Inducement, which resulted in the lowering of the exercise price of the Existing Warrants and the issuance of the New Warrants, is

considered a modification of the Existing Warrants under the guidance of Accounting Standards Update 2021-04, Earnings Per Share (Topic 260), Debt — Modifications

and Extinguishments (Subtopic 470-50), Compensation — Stock Compensation (Topic 718), and Derivatives and Hedging — Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic

815-40): Issuer’s Accounting for Certain Modifications or September 30, 2023 Exchanges of Freestanding Equity-Classified Written Call Options (a consensus of the

Emerging Issues Task Force) (“ASU 2021-04”). The modification is consistent with the equity issuance classification under that guidance as the reason for the

modification was to induce the holders of the Existing Warrants to cash exercise their warrants, which raised equity capital and generated net proceeds for the

Company of approximately $2.0 million. As the Existing Warrants and the New Warrants were classified as equity instruments before and after the exchange, and as the

exchange is directly attributable to an equity offering, the Company recognized the effect of the modification of approximately $3.0 million as an equity issuance cost.

Warrant Modification

 

In connection with the March 2023 Offering, the Company agreed to amend the terms of the April 2022 PIPE Common Warrants, which are were held by the

purchaser in the March 2023 Offering. The exercise price of the April 2022 PIPE Common Warrants was reduced from $21.20 to $2.82 per share upon closing of the

March 2023 Offering. The original expiration date of the April 2022 PIPE Common Warrants was May 12, 2027, which was extended to five years after the closing of the

March 2023 Offering, or March 20, 2028. The modification of the April 2022 PIPE Common  Warrants resulted in an increase in additional paid-in capital  since was

accounted for as a modification of equity-linked instruments. In accordance with ASU 2021-04, as the warrants are were classified as equity classified instruments

before and after the modification, in connection with and as the March 2023 Offering. 

Stockholders’ Agreements

On March 13, 2023, modification was directly attributable to an equity offering, the Company filed a Certificate of Amendment to recognized the Company’s

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, with the Secretary of State effect of the State modification of Delaware on March 14, 2023, a 1-for-16

reverse stock split of the Company’s issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock. All issued and outstanding Common Stock shares and per share amounts

contained in the financial statements have been retroactively adjusted to reflect this reverse stock split for all periods presented.

On July 11, 2022, the Company filed a Certificate of Amendment to the Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of

State of the State of Delaware to  increase  the number of  authorized  shares of the Company’s Common Stock from 90,000,000 shares to 250,000,000 shares.

The increase in the number of authorized shares was approved by the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Company at its annual

meeting on July 11, 2022.

Preferred Stock

While the Company has 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized with a par value of $0.0001, no shares of preferred stock are outstanding approximately

$0.1 million as of September 30, 2023, or December 31, 2022.

Warrants
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The Company performs an assessment of warrants upon equity issuance to determine their proper classification in the financial statements based upon the

warrant’s specific terms, in accordance with the authoritative guidance provided in Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC,

480 Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity, and ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging. The assessment considers whether the warrants are freestanding financial

instruments pursuant to ASC 480 and whether the warrants meet all of the requirements for equity classification under ASC 815, including whether the warrants are

indexed in the Company’s own common stock and whether the warrant holders could potentially require cash settlement of the warrants. Additional accounting

guidance regarding modifications is provided in Accounting Standards Update, or ASU, 2021-04 Earnings Per Share (Topic 260), Debt — Modifications and

Extinguishments (Subtopic 470-50), Compensation — Stock Compensation (Topic 718), and Derivatives and Hedging — Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-

40): Issuer’s Accounting for Certain Modifications or Exchanges of Freestanding Equity-Classified Written Call Options (a consensus of the Emerging Issues Task

Force), effective as of January 1, 2022. cost. 
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For issued or modified warrants that meet all the criteria for equity classification, the warrants are required to be recorded as a component of additional paid-in

capital. For issued or modified warrants that do not meet all the criteria for equity classification, the warrants are required to be liability classified and recorded at their

initial fair value on the date of issuance and remeasured at fair value at each balance sheet date thereafter. The Company has performed an assessment of all warrants

issued and modified and determined that the Company’s warrants are equity classified.   

Common and Pre-Funded Warrants issued in the May 2023 PIPE

In May 2023, the Company completed the 2023 PIPE, in which it sold 458,555 shares of its Common Stock together with 342,322 May 2023 Pre-Funded Warrants

to purchase up to an aggregate of 342,322 shares of Common Stock with an exercise price of $0.0001 per share, and 800,877 May 2023 PIPE Common Warrants to

purchase up to an aggregate of 800,877 shares of Common Stock with an exercise price of $2.16 per share, at a combined offering price of $2.285. Each May 2023

Common Warrant is immediately exercisable at the option of the holder and expires November 27, 2028.

In connection with the 2023 PIPE, the Company issued Placement Agent Warrants to purchase up to 56,061 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price equal

to $2.8563 per share (the “May 2023 PIPE Placement Agent Warrants”). The May 2023 PIPE Placement Agent Warrants are exercisable immediately upon issuance and

expire on May 23, 2028.

During the second quarter of 2023, all 342,322 of the May 2023 Pre-Funded Warrants were exercised. No additional May 2023 Pre-Funded Warrants are

outstanding as of September 30, 2023.

Common and Pre-Funded Warrants issued with March 2023 Offering

In March 2023, the Company completed the March 2023 Offering, in which it sold 85,000 shares of its Common Stock together with 1,533,123 2023 Pre-Funded

Warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 1,533,123 shares of Common Stock with an exercise price of $0.0001 per share, and 1,618,123 Series A Common Warrants

to purchase up to an aggregate of 1,618,123 shares of Common Stock with an exercise price of $2.82 per share, and 1,618,123 Series B Common Warrants to purchase

up to an aggregate of 1,618,123 shares of Common Stock with an exercise price of $2.82 per share, at a combined offering price of $3.09. Each Series A Common

Warrant is immediately exercisable at the option of the holder and expires March 20, 2028. Each Series B Common Warrant is immediately exercisable at the option of

the holder and expires July 20, 2025.

In connection with the March 2023 Offering, the Company issued Placement Agent Warrants to purchase up to 113,269 shares of Common Stock at an exercise

price equal to $3.8625 per share (the “March 2023 Offering Placement Agent Warrants”). The March 2023 Offering Placement Agent Warrants are exercisable

immediately upon issuance and expire on March 16, 2028.

During the first quarter of 2023, 1,533,123 of the 2023 Pre-Funded Warrants were exercised. No additional March 2023 Pre-Funded Warrants are outstanding as of

September 30, 2023.

Summary of Warrants Outstanding

The table below lists outstanding warrants for the dates presented. The aggregate intrinsic value of warrants outstanding as of September 30, 2023, is calculated

as the difference between the exercise price of the warrants and the closing market price of the Company's Common Stock on that date, which was $1.06 per share.

The intrinsic value of warrants outstanding as of September 30, 2023, was zero due to the warrants' exercise prices above market value.
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    Quantity of Warrants Outstanding as of     Exercise     Expiration  

Description
 

September 30,

2023
   

December 31,

2022
   

Price
   

Date
 

Pre-IPO Series 1a Warrants     4,321       4,321     $ 328.00     11/15/2026  

Pre-IPO Class B Common Warrants     4,077       4,077       91.84     12/31/2024  

IPO Warrants     184,820       184,820       112.00     8/17/2026  

IPO Underwriter Warrants     8,035       8,035       128.80     8/17/2026  

April 2022 PIPE Common Warrants     235,849       235,849       2.82     3/20/2028  

March 2023 Series A Common Warrants     1,618,123       -       2.82     3/20/2028  

March 2023 Series B Common Warrants     1,618,123       -       2.82     7/20/2025  

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

16/35

March 2023 Offering Placement Agent Warrants     113,269       -       3.8625     3/16/2028  

May 2023 PIPE Common Warrants     800,877       -       2.16     11/27/2028  

May 2023 PIPE Placement Agent Warrants     56,061       -       2.8563     5/23/2028  

Total warrants outstanding     4,643,555       437,102                

 

5. Equity Incentive Plan

 

Under the Company’s 2021 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”), as amended, the Company may grant options to purchase shares of Common

Stock, restricted stock awards, performance stock awards, incentive bonus awards, other cash-based awards or directly issue shares of Common Stock to employees,

directors, and consultants of the Company. Effective January 1, 2022 At the Company’s 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on August 3, 2023, the Company’s

stockholders approved an amendment to the Company’s 2021 Plan to increase the number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance thereunder by 513,150

shares to 629,069 shares. Further, effective January 1 each year, an evergreen provision contained in the Company’s 2021 Plan increased increases the total number of

shares of common shares issuable under the 2021 Plan in an amount equal to one percent of the Company’s common shares outstanding as of December 31,

2021. December 31 the prior calendar year. This evergreen provision resulted in an additional 5,205 39,308 and 7,701 shares of Common Stock issuable pursuant to the

2021 Plan as of January 1, 2022 January 1, 2024, and 2023, respectively. The total authorized shares available for issuance under the 2021 Plan was 115,919 as of

January 1, 2023. At the Company’s 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on August 3, 2023, the Company’s stockholders approved an amendment (the

“Amendment”) to the Company’s 2021 Plan to increase the number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance thereunder by 513,150 shares to 629,069

shares.
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Stock awards  may be granted at an exercise price per share of not less than 100% of the fair market value at the date of grant. Stock awards granted are

exercisable over a maximum term of 10 years from the date of grant and generally vest over a period of four years for employees and one year for directors of the

Company’s Board and consultants.

 

As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, there remain 513,277 205,108 shares reserved for issuance under the 2021 Plan, as amended.
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Fair Value Measurement

 

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option valuation model, which requires the use of highly subjective assumptions, to determine the fair value of stock-

based awards. The fair value of each employee stock option is estimated on the grant date under the fair value method using the Black-Scholes model. The estimated

fair value of each stock option is then expensed over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period. The assumptions and estimates that the

Company uses in the Black-Scholes model are as follows:

 

 

· Fair Value of Common Stock. The estimated fair value of the Common Stock underlying the Company’s stock option plan was determined by management

by considering various factors as discussed below. All options to purchase shares of the Company’s Common Stock are intended to be exercisable at a

price per share not less than the per-share fair value of the Company’s Common Stock underlying those options on the date of grant. In the absence of a

public trading market for the Company’s Common Stock, before the initial public offering, on each grant date, the Company developed an estimate of the

fair value of its Common Stock based on the information known to the Company on the date of grant, upon a review of any recent events and their

potential impact on the estimated fair value per share of the Common Stock and in part on input from an independent third-party valuation firm. After the

Company’s initial public offering, the fair value of Common Stock is measured as the Company’s closing price of Common Stock on the date of grant.

     

 
· Risk-Free Interest Rate. The Company bases the risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes valuation model on the implied yield available on U.S.

Treasury zero-coupon issues with a term equivalent to that of the expected term of the options.

     

 

· Expected Term. The expected term represents the period that the Company’s stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding. Because outstanding,

which is calculated using the simplified method, as the Company has insufficient historical information to provide a basis for an estimate. The simplified

method calculates the expected term as the average of the limitations on vesting term plus the sale or transfer contractual life of the Company’s Common

Stock as a privately held company, the Company does not believe its historical exercise pattern is indicative of the pattern it will experience as a publicly

traded company. The Company plans to continue to use the SAB 110 simplified method until it has sufficient trading history as a publicly traded

company. options. 
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· Volatility. The Company determines the price volatility based on the historical volatilities of industry peers as it has limited trading history for its Common

Stock price. Industry peers consist of several public companies in the biotechnology industry with comparable characteristics, including clinical trials

progress and therapeutic indications.

     

 
· Dividend Yield. The expected dividend assumption is based on the Company’s current expectations about its anticipated dividend policy. To date, the

Company has not declared any dividends to common shareholders and, therefore, the Company has used an expected dividend yield of zero.

 

The following table presents the weighted-average assumptions used for the stock option grants:

   
Three Months Ended

September 30,
   

Nine Months Ended

September 30,
 

    2023     2022     2023     2022  

Grant date fair value   $ 4.23     $ 7.20     $ 4.23     $ 23.36  

Risk-free rate     3.9 %     2.9 %     3.9 %     1.5 %

Dividend yield     0.00 %     0.00 %     0.00 %     0.0 %

Expected life in years     6.1       6.1       6.1       5.4  

Expected volatility     112 %     132 %     112 %     123 %
 

17 18

Table of Contents
The following table presents the weighted-average assumptions used for stock options granted during the following periods:

   
Three Months Ended

March 31,
 

    2024     2023  

Grant date fair value   $ 0.51     $ 4.23  

Risk-free interest rate     4.0 %     3.9 %

Dividend yield     0.00 %     0.00 %

Expected life in years     5.9       6.1  

Expected volatility     110 %     112 %
 

Stock-based Compensation Expense

 

In general, stock-based compensation is allocated to research and development expense or general and administrative expense according to the classification

of cash compensation paid to the employee, director, or consultant to whom the stock award was granted.

 

The following table summarizes the total stock-based compensation expense related to stock options and RSUs included in the Company’s statements of

operations:

 

 
Three Months Ended September 30,

 
Nine Months Ended

September 30,
   

Three Months Ended

March 31,
 

  2023     2022     2023     2022     2024     2023  

Research and development   $ 48,425   $ 54,907   $ 145,275   $ 163,417     $ 237,337   $ 48,425  

General and administrative     82,752       180,076       248,339       546,018       349,897       82,835  

  $ 131,177     $ 234,983     $ 393,614     $ 709,435     $ 587,234     $ 131,260  

 

Stock Option Award Activity

 

A summary of the Company’s Equity 2021 Plan stock option activity is as follows:
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Number of

Options

Outstanding

   
Weighted-

Average

Exercise

Price

   

Weighted-

Average

Remaining

Contractual

Term (in

Years)

   
Number of

Options

Outstanding

   
Weighted-

Average

Exercise

Price

   

Weighted-

Average

Remaining

Contractual

Term (in

Years)

 

Balance at December 31, 2022     65,983     $ 60.32       8.2  

Balance at December 31, 2023   102,074   $ 40.77   7.8  

Options granted   36,091   4.96   9.3     410,000   0.61   -  

Options exercised   -   -   -     -   -   -  

Options cancelled     -       -       -       (101,831 )     40.65       -  

Balance at September 30, 2023     102,074     $ 40.77       8.1  

Balance at March 31, 2024     410,243     $ 0.66       9.8  

                           

Options exercisable at September 30, 2023   51,252   $ 63.55   7.6  

Options exercisable at March 31, 2024   11,905   $ 2.47   9.7  
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In January 2024, the Board unanimously approved to provide employees and directors of the Company the opportunity to cancel outstanding, out-of-the-money,

stock options without consideration, in accordance with an option cancellation agreement. Accordingly, 101,831 of the 102,074 stock options outstanding as of

December 31, 2023, were cancelled in February 2024.

In accordance with accounting guidance provided in ASC 718, since the stock option cancellations were not accompanied by a concurrent grant, or offer to

grant, a replacement award, any unrecognized compensation cost was recognized at the cancellation date. Accordingly, the Company recognized stock-based

compensation expense of $568,372 resulting from the stock option cancellation during the first quarter of 2024.  

 

The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding and exercisable as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, is calculated as the difference between the

exercise price of the underlying options and the closing market price of the Company’s Common Stock on that date, March 28, 2024, which was $1.06 $0.4108 per share.

The intrinsic value of options outstanding and exercisable as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, was zero.

 

As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options was approximately $0.8 million $0.2 million and the

weighted average period over which this cost is expected to be recognized is 1.8 years. 

 

6. Commitments and Contingencies

Clinical Trials

During the fourth quarter of 2023, the Company initiated a Phase 3 clinical trial, STAR-1, which is expected to report data in 2025. The total contract amount with

the clinical research organization is approximately $6.9 million, which will extend from the fourth quarter of 2023 to the first half of 2025, and which has a 30-day

termination notice period. As of March 31, 2024, the Company has recognized $1.4 million in expense for the STAR-1 trial.

Supplier Agreement

As a result of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, the United States, the United Kingdom, and the European Union governments, among others, have developed

coordinated sanctions and export-control measure packages against Russian individuals and entities. The Company is currently a party to an exclusive supply

agreement for the supply of the Spongilla raw material used in DMT310 and DMT410. The counterparty to this supply agreement is a Russian entity. The imposition of

enhanced export controls and economic sanctions on transactions with Russia and Russian entities by the United States, the United Kingdom, and/or the European

Union could prevent the Company from performing under this existing contract or any future contract it may enter or may prevent the Company from

remitting  payment  for raw material purchased from the Company’s supplier. The Company has received multiple shipments of raw material from its supplier

subsequent to the implementation of export controls and sanctions, containing additional quantities of Spongilla raw material, which will provide the Company with

sufficient quantities of Spongilla to initiate and complete two Phase 3 studies in moderate-to-severe acne and support filing a new drug application for DMT310 in acne

upon the successful completion of two Phase 3 studies. Depending on the extent and breadth of new sanctions or export controls that may be imposed against Russia,

otherwise or as a result of the impact of the war in Ukraine, it is possible that the Company’s ability to obtain additional supply of the Spongilla raw material used in

DMT310 and DMT410 could be negatively impacted, which could adversely affect its business, results of operations, and financial condition.
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License Agreements

 

On March 31, 2017, the Company entered into a license agreement, as amended (the “License Agreement”) with Villani, Inc. whereby Villani has granted the

Company an exclusive, sub-licensable, royalty-bearing license (the “License”) under the Licensed Patents (as defined in the License Agreement), to formulate, develop,

seek regulatory approval for, make or sell products that contain Spongilla lacustris (alone or in combination with other active or inactive ingredients) for the treatment

of diseases, disorders and conditions of the skin, including but not limited to acne, rosacea, psoriasis, atopic dermatitis, seborrheic dermatitis, actinic keratosis and

eczema that were developed using certain licensed know-how (“Licensed Products”). The Company is responsible for the development (including manufacturing,

packaging, non-clinical studies, clinical trials and obtaining regulatory approval and commercialization (including marketing, promotion, distribution, etc.)) for all

Licensed Products. The original License Agreement was amended in 2019, and pursuant to the amended License Agreement, the Company was required to make future

milestone payments to Villani in an aggregate amount of up to $20.25 million upon the achievement of specified development and sales milestones, payable in cash or

in equity, at the option of Villani, as well as single-digit royalty payments on net sales. On July 30, 2021, the Company further amended the License Agreement in the

Second Amendment to the License and Settlement Agreement (the “Second Amendment”). Pursuant to the Second Amendment, the Company is required to make

future milestone payments to Villani in an aggregate amount of up to $40.5 million upon the achievement of specified development and sales milestones, payable in

cash or in equity, at the option of Villani, as well as single-digit royalty payments on net sales. The Second Amendment includes customary terms relating to, among

others, indemnification, intellectual property protection, confidentiality, remedies, and warranties.  As of March 31, 2024, the Company evaluated the likelihood of the

Company achieving the specified milestones and determined that the likelihood is not yet probable and as such no accrual of these payments is required as of March

31, 2024.

 

Supplier Agreement

As a result of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, the United States, the United Kingdom, and the European Union governments, among others, have developed

coordinated sanctions and export-control measure packages against Russian individuals and entities. The Company is currently a party to an exclusive supply

agreement for the supply of the Spongilla raw material used in DMT310 and DMT410. The counterparty to this supply agreement is a Russian entity. The imposition of

enhanced export controls and economic sanctions on transactions with Russia and Russian entities by the United States, the United Kingdom, and/or the European

Union could prevent the Company from performing under this existing contract or any future contract it may enter or may prevent the Company from

remitting payment for raw material purchased from the Company’s supplier. The Company has received multiple shipments of raw material from its supplier, containing

additional quantities of Spongilla raw material, which will provide the Company with sufficient quantities of Spongilla to initiate and complete two Phase 3 studies in

moderate-to-severe acne and support filing a new drug application for DMT310 in acne upon the successful completion of two Phase 3 studies. Depending on the

extent and breadth of new sanctions or export controls that may be imposed against Russia, otherwise or as a result of the impact of the war in Ukraine, it is possible

that the Company’s ability to obtain additional supply of the Spongilla raw material used in DMT310 and DMT410 could be negatively impacted, which could adversely

affect its business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Legal Proceedings

 

In the normal course of business, the Company may be involved in legal proceedings or threatened legal proceedings. The Company is not a party to any legal

proceedings or aware of any threatened legal proceedings which are expected to have a material adverse effect on its financial condition, results of operations or

liquidity.

 

7. Subsequent Events

On May 7, 2024, the Company held its 2024 annual meeting of stockholders (the “2024 Annual Stockholder Meeting”) at which time the Company’s stockholders

approved amendments to the 2021 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan to (i) increase the number of shares reserved for issuance under the plan to from 629,069 to

1,198,951 shares and (ii) increase the annual evergreen percentage from 1% to 5%.

Also at the 2024 Annual Stockholder Meeting, the Company’s stockholders approved an amendment to its Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to

affect a reverse stock split of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock at a specific ratio, ranging from one-for-five (1:5) to one-for-thirty

(1:30), with the exact ratio to be determined by the Company’s board of directors without further approval or authorization of the Company’s stockholders.

On May 8, 2024, the Company’s Board set and approved a reverse split ratio of one-for-fifteen (1:15) and authorized the Company’s management to effect the

reverse stock split on May 16, 2024 (the “2024 Reverse Stock Split”). The financial statements contained herein do not reflect the 2024 Reverse Stock Split as the 2024

Reverse Stock Split will not have become effective as of the date of the issuance of these financial statements.

As previously reported, on November 15, 2023, the Company received a letter from the Listing Qualifications Department of The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC

(“Nasdaq”) indicating that, based upon the closing bid price of the Company’s Common Stock for the prior 30 consecutive business days, the Company was not in

compliance with the requirement to maintain a minimum bid price of $1.00 per share for continued listing on Nasdaq, as set forth in Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(a)(2) (the

“Minimum Bid Price Requirement”). In accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), the Company was provided a grace period of 180 days, or until May 13, 2024,

to regain compliance with the Minimum Bid Price Requirement. On May 14, 2024, the Company received a letter from Nasdaq advising that the Company had been

granted a 180-day extension to November 11, 2024, to regain compliance with the Minimum Bid Price Requirement.
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ITEM 2: MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

 

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with our financial statements and the related

notes and the other financial information included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and

uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those

discussed below and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report, particularly those under “Risk Factors.”

 

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

 

This Quarterly Report contains forward-looking statements made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

under Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements include

statements with respect to our beliefs, plans, objectives, goals, expectations, anticipations, assumptions, estimates, intentions, and future performance, and involve

known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors, which may be beyond our control, and which may cause our actual results, performance, or achievements

to be materially different from future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. All statements other than

statements of historical fact are statements that could be forward-looking statements. You can identify these forward-looking statements through our use of words

such as “may,” “can,” “anticipate,” “assume,” “should,” “indicate,” “would,” “believe,” “contemplate,” “expect,” “seek,” “estimate,” “continue,” “plan,” “point to,”

“project,” “predict,” “could,” “intend,” “target,” “potential” and other similar words and expressions of the future.

 

There are a number of important factors that could cause the actual results to differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statement made by

us. These factors include, but are not limited to:

 

  · our lack of operating history;

     

  · the expectation that we will incur significant operating losses for the foreseeable future and will need significant additional capital;

     

 
· our current and future capital requirements to support our development and commercialization efforts for our product candidates and our ability to satisfy

our capital needs;

     

  · our dependence on our product candidates, which are still in various stages of clinical development;
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  · our ability to acquire sufficient quantities of raw material needed to manufacture our drug product;

     

 
· our, or that of our third-party manufacturers, ability to manufacture cGMP quantities of our product candidates as required for pre-clinical and clinical

trials and, subsequently, our ability to manufacture commercial quantities of our product candidates;

     

 
· our ability to complete required clinical trials for our product candidates and obtain approval from the FDA or other regulatory agencies in different

jurisdictions;

     

  · our lack of a sales and marketing organization and our ability to commercialize our product candidates if we obtain regulatory approval;

     

  · our dependence on third parties to manufacture our product candidates;

     

  · our reliance on third-party CROs to conduct our clinical trials;
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  · our ability to maintain or protect the validity of our intellectual property;

     

  · our ability to internally develop new inventions and intellectual property;
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  · interpretations of current laws and the passages of future laws;

     

  · acceptance of our business model by investors;

     

  · the accuracy of our estimates regarding expenses and capital requirements; and

     

  · our ability to adequately support organizational and business growth.

 

The foregoing does not represent an exhaustive list of matters that may be covered by the forward-looking statements contained herein or risk factors that we

are faced with that may cause our actual results to differ from those anticipate in our forward-looking statements. Please see “Risk Factors” for additional risks which

could adversely impact our business and financial performance.

 

All forward-looking statements are expressly qualified in their entirety by this cautionary notice. You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any forward-

looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this report, or the date of the document incorporated by reference into this report. We have no obligation, and

expressly disclaim any obligation, to update, revise or correct any of the forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or

otherwise. We have expressed our expectations, beliefs and projections in good faith, and we believe they have a reasonable basis. However, we cannot assure you

that our expectations, beliefs, or projections will result or be achieved or accomplished.
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Overview

 

We are a clinical-stage late-stage medical dermatology company focused on identifying, developing, and commercializing innovative pharmaceutical product

candidates for the treatment of medical and aesthetic skin conditions and diseases we believe represent significant market opportunities.

 

Dermatological diseases such as acne vulgaris (or acne), psoriasis vulgaris (or psoriasis), hyperhidrosis, and various aesthetic indications, affect millions of

people worldwide each year which may negatively impact their quality of life and emotional well-being. While there are multiple current treatment options for these

indications on the market, we believe that most have significant drawbacks, including underwhelming efficacy, cumbersome application regimens and varying negative

side effects, all of which we believe lead to decreased patient compliance. A majority of these indications are first treated with topical therapy; however, many patients

frequently switch treatments or discontinue treatment altogether due to patient dissatisfaction. This is primarily due to slow and modest response rates, early onset of

negative side effects, daily application schedules and long duration of therapy. Given the limitations with current topical therapies, we believe there is a significant

opportunity to address the needs of frustrated patients searching for topical products that satisfy their dermatological and lifestyle needs.

 

Our two product candidates, DMT310 and DMT410, both incorporate our proprietary, multifaceted, Spongilla technology to topically treat a variety of

dermatological conditions. Our Spongilla technology is derived from a naturally grown freshwater sponge, Spongilla lacustris or Spongilla, which is processed into a

powder that is mixed with a fluidizing agent immediately prior to application to form an easily applicable paste. Spongilla is a unique freshwater sponge that only grows

in commercial quantities in select regions of the world and under specific environmental conditions, all of which give it its distinctive anti-microbial, anti-inflammatory,

and mechanical properties. The combination of these environmental conditions, the proprietary harvesting protocols developed with our exclusive supplier, and our

post-harvest processing procedures produce a pharmaceutical product candidate that optimizes the mechanical components as well as the chemical components of

the sponge to create a product candidate with multiple mechanisms of action for the treatment of medical and aesthetic skin diseases and conditions. 
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We believe our Spongilla  technology platform will enable us to develop and formulate singular and combination products that are able to target the topical

delivery of chemical compounds into the dermis for a variety of dermatology indications. We believe the combination of  Spongilla’s  mechanical and chemical

components (which we believe have demonstrated, in-vitro, anti-microbial and anti-inflammatory properties), add to the versatility of our  Spongilla  technology

platform’s effectiveness as a singular product, in the treatment of a wide variety of medical skin diseases like acne and psoriasis. We also believe the mechanical

properties of our Spongilla technology allows for the intradermal delivery of a variety of large molecules, like botulinum toxins, monoclonal antibodies, or dermal

fillers, to target treatment sites, through topical application without the need for needles.
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Our lead product candidate, DMT310, is intended to utilize our Spongilla technology for the once weekly treatment of a variety of skin diseases, with our initial

focus being the treatment of acne vulgaris, which has a U.S. market size of approximately 50 million 33 million diagnosed patients. We recently initiated a Phase 3

program of DMT310 in moderate-to-severe acne and began enrolling patients in the first of two identical Phase 3 studies in December of 2023. Both studies will be

double blinded, randomized, placebo controlled, and enroll about 550 patients, age 9 years or older across sites in the United States and Latin America. The primary

endpoints include absolute reduction in inflammatory and noninflammatory lesions and the improvement in investigators global assessment (IGA) of acne, which are

the same endpoints used in our Phase 2b study of DMT310 for moderate-to-severe acne. Patients will be treated once a week for 12 weeks with either DMT310 or

placebo and will be evaluated monthly. The second Phase 3 study will be followed by a long-term extension study. We expect to have top-line results from the first

Phase 3 study in the first quarter of 2025. Previously DMT310 has shown DMT310’s its ability to treat the multiple causes of acne in a Phase 2b study where we initially

saw a 45% reduction in inflammatory lesions after four treatments, with DMT310 achieving statistically significant improvements at all time points for all three primary

endpoints throughout the study (reduction in inflammatory lesions, reduction in non-inflammatory lesions, and improvement in Investigator Global Assessment) IGA).

Based on this Phase 2b data we submitted an end of phase 2 meeting package to the FDA to agree on clinical development requirements for the Phase 3 acne program.

We received feedback from the FDA in the end of June 2023 and based on FDA recommendations we have amended the Phase 3 protocols to include the FDA’s

recommended additions. In July 2023, we submitted the amended protocols to the FDA and we plan to initiate a Phase 3 program in the second half of 2023, assuming

the receipt of final approval from the FDA. In addition, based on the multiple mechanisms of action and anti-inflammatory effect seen with the DMT310 acne trial, we

have conducted completed a Phase 1b proof of concept, or POC, trial in psoriasis where we saw encouraging results warranting further investigation.

 

DMT310 consists of two grams of powder processed from the naturally grown freshwater sponge, Spongilla lacustris. The patient mixes the powder with a

fluidizing agent (3% hydrogen peroxide) immediately prior to application by the patient to form an easy-to-apply paste. The paste is applied like a mud mask and is left

on the skin for approximately ten to fifteen minutes, after which time it is washed off with water. Due to the unique combination of DMT310’s mechanical components

and chemical components, and based on our Phase 2 acne data, we believe patients will only need to apply DMT310 once weekly to produce the desired treatment

effect. The mechanical components of the Spongilla powder consist of many microscopic siliceous, needle-like spicules that, when massaged into the skin, penetrate

the stratum corneum (the skin’s outermost protective layer) and create microchannels into the dermis where pro-inflammatory cytokines and bacteria reside. We

believe that the penetration of the spicules also leads to the opening of microchannels, which allow oxygen to enter pilosebaceous glands, helping to kill C. acnes,

which grow in an anaerobic (without oxygen) environment (C. acnes  is the bacteria that cause inflammatory lesions in acne patients).  The spicules also cause

rejuvenation of the top layer of dead skin, thereby increasing collagen production. Additionally, we believe the newly created microchannels provide a conduit for

DMT310’s naturally occurring chemical compounds to be delivered to the dermis and pilosebaceous glands, helping to kill the C. acnes and fight inflammation. In

addition to these anti-microbial compounds, DMT310 also appears to have anti-inflammatory chemical compounds, as demonstrated in in vitro experiments, that inhibit

inflammation through the reduction of C.acnes  stimulated IL-8 production and by inhibiting IL-17A and IL-17F expression in human cell lines. Also, during in vitro

studies of DMT310’s organic compounds, we observed the inhibition of the lipogenesis of sebocytes, which may translate to a reduction in sebum (an oily and waxy

substance produced by the human body’s sebaceous glands) production and the oiliness of the skin in patients, which was observed by a number of clinical

investigators in our Phase 2 acne studies. We believe the combination of these biological and mechanical effects could be important factors in treating multiple

inflammatory skin diseases, as seen in our clinical trials.
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Our second product candidate utilizing our Spongilla technology is DMT410, our combination treatment. DMT410 is intended to consist of one treatment of our

proprietary sponge powder followed by one topical application of botulinum toxin for delivery into the dermis. Currently, BOTOX®, is the only approved botulinum toxin

is only approved to be delivered to the dermis by intradermal injections, which can be painful for the patient and time-consuming for the physician. However, we

believe DMT410’s ability to topically deliver a botulinum toxin into the dermis could have similar levels of efficacy to existing delivery techniques, intradermal injections

of botulinum toxin, with fewer tolerability issues, and a quicker application time, possibly replacing the need for intradermal injections. We first tested DMT410 with

BOTOX® in a Phase 1 POC trial of axillary hyperhidrosis patients, which saw 80% of patients achieve a reduction in gravimetric sweat production greater than 50% four

weeks after a single treatment. With almost 40% of the hyperhidrosis market currently being treated with intradermal injections of botulinum toxin, BOTOX®, we believe

there could be significant opportunity for DMT410 to break into this market and replace intradermal injections of botulinum toxin. toxin with a topical delivery

option. Based on DMT410’s ability to effectively deliver botulinum toxin to the dermis as observed in the Phase 1 axillary hyperhidrosis trial, we also conducted a Phase

1 POC trial of DMT410 with BOTOX® for the treatment of multiple aesthetic skin conditions, including reduction of pore size, sebum production, and fine lines, among

others. In November 2021, we announced top-line results from this trial, where we saw promising data that we believe warrants further investigation of DMT410.

We Given that BOTOX® is a Type A toxin, and acts through a similar pathway as other Type A botulinum toxins, we are currently in the process of discussing partnering

opportunities with multiple companies that have a botulinum toxin companies type A to move the our DMT410 program into Phase 2 additional clinical studies.
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We have a limited operating history. Since our inception, our operations have focused on developing DMT310 and DMT410, organizing and staffing our company,

raising capital, establishing our supply chain and manufacturing processes, further characterizing the multiple mechanisms of action of our Spongilla technology,

building an intellectual property portfolio, and conducting non-clinical and clinical trials. We do not have any product candidates approved for marketing and have not
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generated any revenue from product sales. We have funded our operations primarily through the sale of our equity securities and debt securities. Since inception, we

have raised an aggregate of approximately $58.7 million $61.0 million of gross proceeds from the sale of our debt and equity securities.

 

We have not generated any revenue to date and have incurred significant operating losses. Our net losses were $1.7 million $3.1 million and $2.4 million $2.2

million for the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, and 2022, 2023, respectively, and as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, we had an

accumulated deficit of $51.3 million $56.5 million. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and operating losses for the foreseeable future. We anticipate

that our expenses will increase significantly in connection with our ongoing activities, as we:

 

  · complete development of DMT310 for the treatment of acne, including non-clinical studies and Phase 3 clinical trials;

     

  · prepare and file for regulatory approval of DMT310 for the treatment of moderate-to-severe acne;

     

 
· continue development of DMT310 identify a botulinum toxin partner for DMT410 for the treatment of psoriasis, including a Phase 2 clinical trial medical

and Phase 3 clinical trials; aesthetic skin conditions and diseases;
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· identify a botulinum toxin partner for   continue development of DMT410 for the treatment of treatment of aesthetic and medical skin

conditions; conditions, including Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical trials;

     

  · prepare for commercialization of DMT310, if approved, including the hiring of sales and marketing personnel;

     

  · manufacture our product candidates for additional Phase 2 and Phase 3 trials and commercial sale;

     

  · hire additional research and development and selling, general and administrative personnel;

     

  · maintain, expand, and protect our intellectual property portfolio; and

     

  · incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company.

 

We will need additional financing to support our operations. We may seek to fund our operations through public or private equity or debt financings or other

sources. Adequate additional financing may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. Our failure to raise capital when needed or on favorable terms would

have a negative impact on our financial condition and our ability to pursue our business strategy. We will need to generate significant revenues to achieve profitability,

and we may never do so.
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Recent Developments

 

Equity Offerings

On March 20, 2023, In December 2023, we closed a public offering (the “March 2023 Offering”) began enrolling patients in the first of (i) 85,000 shares two Phase

3 clinical trials of Common Stock, $0.0001 par value per share (“Common Stock”), (ii) pre-funded warrants DMT310 in moderate-to-severe acne. We are currently on

track to purchase up to an aggregate of 1,533,123 shares of Common Stock with an exercise price of  $0.0001 per share, (iii) Series A warrants to purchase up to an

aggregate of 1,618,123 shares of Common Stock, and (iv) Series B warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 1,618,123 shares of Common Stock. Both the Series A

and Series B warrants have an exercise price of $2.82 per share. The net proceeds complete enrollment of the March 2023 Offering, after deducting the placement

agent’s fees and expenses and other offering expenses payable first Phase 3, referred to as STAR-1, by the Company was approximately $4.2 million. In connection end

of 2024 with top-line results from the March 2023 Offering, we also issued warrants to purchase an aggregate first Phase 3 trial in Q1 2025. Both Phase 3 studies will be

double blinded, randomized, placebo controlled, and enroll about 550 patients, age 9 years or older across sites in the United States and Latin America. The primary

endpoints include absolute reduction in inflammatory and noninflammatory lesions and the improvement in investigators global assessment (IGA) of 113,269 shares of

Common Stock to certain affiliated designees of the placement agent as part of the placement agent’s compensation. The placement agent warrants are exercisable at

an exercise price of $3.8625 per share, acne. Patients will be treated once a week for 12 weeks with either DMT310 or placebo and will expire on the five year

anniversary of the date of issuance.
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On May 26, 2023, we closed a private placement (the “2023 PIPE”), priced at the market under Nasdaq rules, in which we sold 458,555 shares of its Common

Stock together with 342,322 pre-funded warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 342,322 shares of Common Stock with an exercise price of $0.0001 per share, (the

“May 2023 Pre-Funded Warrants”). We received net proceeds of approximately $1.5 million, after deducting fees to the placement agent and other offering expenses.

The Common Stock purchase warrants were immediately exercisable at an exercise price of $2.16 per share and will expire five and one-half years from the date of

issuance.  The pre-funded warrants were immediately exercisable at an exercise price of $0.0001 per share and do not expire. In connection with the offering, we also

issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of 56,061 shares of Common Stock to certain affiliated designees of the placement agent as part of the placement agent’s

compensation. The placement agent warrants are exercisable at an exercise price of $2.8563 per share and will expire on the five-year anniversary of the date of

issuance. The net proceeds will be used for general corporate purposes, which includes, without limitation, ongoing research and pre-clinical studies, clinical trials,

and the development of new biological and pharmaceutical technologies. evaluated monthly.

 

Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

 

We have based our management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations on our financial statements, which have been

prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates

that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements as well as

expenses during the reporting periods. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those related to clinical development expenses,

stock-based compensation expense, and the fair value of equity instruments which result in deemed dividends. expenses. We base our estimates on historical

experience and on various other factors that we believe to be appropriate under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different

assumptions or conditions.
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While our significant accounting policies are more fully discussed in Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to our unaudited financial statements

contained within this Form 10-Q, we believe that the following accounting policies are critical to the process of making significant judgments and estimates in the

preparation of our financial statements.

 

Research and Development Expenses

 

We rely on third parties to conduct our clinical studies and to provide services, including data management, statistical analysis, and electronic compilation.

Once our clinical trials begin, at the end of each reporting period, we will compare the payments made to each service provider to the estimated progress towards

completion of the related project. Factors that we will consider in preparing these estimates include the number of patients enrolled in studies, milestones achieved,

and other criteria related to the efforts of our vendors. These estimates will be subject to change as additional information becomes available. Depending on the timing

of payments to vendors and estimated services provided, we will record net prepaid or accrued expenses related to these costs.
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Fair Value of Common Stock and Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense over the requisite service

period, which is generally the vesting period. The Company’s policy permits the valuation of stock-based awards granted to non-employees to be measured at fair

value at the grant date.

Determining the appropriate fair value of share-based awards requires the use of subjective assumptions, including the fair value of our common shares for

awards prior to 2021, and for options, the expected life of the option and expected share price volatility. We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value our

option awards. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of share-based awards represent our best estimates and involve inherent uncertainties and the

application of judgment. As a result, if factors change and management uses different assumptions, share-based compensation expense could be materially different

for future awards.

Fluctuations in Operating Results

 

Our results of operations have fluctuated significantly from period to period in the past and are likely to continue to do so in the future. We anticipate that our

quarterly and annual results of operations will be impacted for the foreseeable future by several factors, including the progress and timing of expenditures related to

the development of our product candidates. Due to these fluctuations, we believe that the period-to-period comparisons of our operating results are not a good

indication of our future performance.
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Results of Operations

 

Three Months Ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, and 2022 2023

 

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the periods presented:

 

   
Three Months Ended

September 30,
 

    2023     2022     Difference  

Operating expenses:                  

Research and development   $ 902,977     $ 1,553,295     $ (650,318 )

General and administrative     909,001       892,777       16,224  

Total operating expenses     1,811,978       2,446,072       (634,094 )

Losses from operations     (1,811,978 )     (2,446,072 )     634,094  

Other income and expenses:                        

Interest income, net     92,767       21,486       71,281  

                         

Net loss   $ (1,719,211 )   $ (2,424,586 )   $ 705,375  
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    Three Months Ended March 31,  

    2024     2023     Difference  

Operating expenses:                  

Research and development   $ 1,600,741     $ 1,192,633     $ 408,108  

General and administrative     1,602,819       1,085,049       517,770  

Total operating expenses     3,203,560       2,277,682       925,878  

Losses from operations     (3,203,560 )     (2,277,682 )     (925,878 )

Other income and expenses:                        

Interest income, net     69,298       37,540       31,758  

                         

Net loss   $ (3,134,262 )   $ (2,240,142 )   $ (894,120 )
 

Research and Development Expenses

 

Research and development expenses decreased increased by $0.7 million $0.4 million from $1.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023, to $1.6

million for the three months ended September 30, 2022, to $0.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024. The decrease increase in

research and development expenses from the third first quarter of 2023 2024 as compared the same period in 2022 2023 resulted from $0.5 million $0.7 million of

decreased increased clinical expenses from the DMT310 rosacea STAR-1 acne study completed initiated in late 2022 2023, and $0.2 million of increased stock-based

compensation expense, offset by $0.3 million of decreased non-clinical expenses offset by $0.1 million and $0.2 million of increased decreased chemistry,

manufacturing, and controls, or CMC, expenses in preparation for the DMT310 Phase 3 program. expenses.

 

General and Administrative Expenses

 

General and administrative expenses were $0.9 million increased by $0.5 million from $1.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31,

2023, to $1.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024. The increase in general and 2022, respectively. administrative costs resulted from $0.3 million of

increased stock-based compensation expense and $0.2 million of increased public company costs, related primarily to audit fees.

 

Other Income and Expenses             

 

Other income and expenses increased by $71,281 $31,758 from $37,540 for the three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2023, as result of to $69,298 for

the three months ended March 31, 2024. The increase in interest income earned from cash sweep accounts that were opened during the third quarter of 2022.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023, and 2022
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The following table summarizes our results of operations for the periods presented:

    Nine Months Ended September 30,  

    2023     2022     Difference  

Operating expenses:                  

Research and development   $ 2,934,541     $ 4,761,686     $ (1,827,145 )

General and administrative     2,887,533       3,201,111       (313,578 )

Total operating expenses     5,822,074       7,962,797       (2,140,723 )

Loss from operations     (5,822,074 )     (7,962,797 )     2,140,723  

Other income and expenses:                        

Interest income, net     161,357       21,486       139,871  

                         

Net loss   $ (5,660,717 )   $ (7,941,311 )   $ 2,280,594  

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses decreased by approximately $1.9 million from $4.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022, to $2.9 million

for the nine months ended September 30, 2023. The decrease in research and development expenses resulted from a $2.0 million decrease in clinical expenses and a

$0.3 million decrease in non-clinical expenses, offset by $0.4 million of increased CMC expenses in preparation for the DMT310 Phase 3 program. interest rate

increases.
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General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses decreased by $0.3 million from $3.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022, to $2.9 million for the nine

months ended September 30, 2023. This decrease resulted from decreased insurance costs of $0.2 million, as well as decreased stock-based compensation expense of

$0.3 million, offset by an increase in public company expenses of $0.2 million primarily related to professional services.

Other Income and Expenses

Other income and expenses increased by $139,871 from the nine months ended September 30, 2023, as result of interest income earned from cash sweep

accounts, which were opened during the third quarter of 2022.

 

Cash Flows

 

The following table summarizes our cash flows from operating and financing activities:

 

 
Nine Months Ended

September 30,
   

Three Months Ended

March 31,
 

  2023     2022     2024     2023  

Statements of cash flows data:                    

Total net cash provided by (used in):                    

Operating activities   $ (5,261,626 )   $ (7,008,636 )   $ (2,704,454 )   $ (1,649,633 )
Financing activities   $ 5,651,815   $ 4,276,652     $ -   $ 4,175,098  

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   $ 390,189   $ (2,731,984 )   $ (2,704,454 )   $ 2,525,465  

 

Operating activities

 

Cash and cash equivalents used in operations of $5.3 million $2.7 million for the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, was the result of

the net loss of $5.7 million $3.1 million, offset by $0.6 million in non-cash stock-based compensation of $0.4 million.

Cash used in operations of $7.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2022, was the result of the net loss of $7.9 million and an increase expense, a

decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets of $0.1 million, and decreases in accounts payable and accrued and other current liabilities of $0.3 million.

Cash and cash equivalents used in operations of $1.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023, was the result of the net loss of $2.2 million, offset by

non-cash stock-based compensation of $0.7 million $0.1 million, a decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets of $0.2 million, and an increase in accrued

and other current liabilities of $0.3 million.

 

Financing activities
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Cash provided by financing activities of $5.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2023, was the result The Company raised net proceeds of $4.2

million of net proceeds received during the quarter ended March 31, 2023, resulting from the issuance of Common Stock and warrants issued in from the March 2023

Offering, as well as $1.5 million of net proceeds received from the May 2023 Offering.
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Cash provided by public offering. The Company did not have any financing activities of $4.3 million for during the nine three months ended September 30, 2022,

was the result of the net proceeds received from the issuance of Common Stock and warrants issued in April 2022 from a private placement of the Company’s

securities. March 31, 2024.

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources

 

Since our inception, we have not generated any revenue or commercialized any products. As of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, our cash and cash

equivalents totaled $6.6 million $4.7 million, and we had an accumulated deficit of $51.3 million $56.5 million. For the nine three months ended September 30, 2023 March

31, 2024, and the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we used cash of $5.3 million $2.7 million and $8.8 million $6.4 million, respectively, in operations.

As a result of the sales of our Common Stock and warrants to purchase Common Stock in the March 2023 Offering and the May 2023 Offering for net proceeds of $4.2

million and $1.5 million, respectively, We expect our cash balances are expected resources to fund operations into the second third quarter of 2024. We anticipate that

we will continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable future.

 

Historically, our principal sources of cash have included proceeds from the issuance of common and preferred equity and proceeds from the issuance of debt.

Our principal uses of cash have included cash used in operations (including clinical development of our product candidates and general and administrative expenses)

and payments for license rights. We expect that the principal uses of cash in the future will be for continuing operations, funding of research and development, and

general working capital requirements. We expect that as research and development expenses continue to grow, we will need to raise additional capital to sustain

operations and research and development activities.
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Funding Requirements

 

We plan to focus in the near term on the development, regulatory approval, and potential commercialization of DMT310 for the treatment of acne. We anticipate

we will incur net losses for the next several years as we complete clinical development of DMT310 for the treatment of acne and psoriasis and continue research and

development of DMT410 for the treatment of aesthetic and medical skin conditions. In addition, we plan to seek opportunities to identify, acquire or in license and

develop additional drug candidates, potentially build commercial capabilities, and expand our corporate infrastructure. We may not be able to complete the

development and initiate commercialization of these programs if, among other things, our clinical trials are not successful or if the FDA does not approve our drug

candidate arising out of our current clinical trials when we expect, or at all.

 

Our primary uses of capital are, and we expect will continue to be, compensation and related expenses, clinical costs, external research and development

services, legal and other regulatory expenses, and administrative and overhead costs. Our future funding requirements will be heavily determined by the resources

needed to support the development of our drug candidates.

 

As a publicly traded company, we will incur significant legal, accounting, and other expenses that we were not required to incur as a private company. In

addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as well as rules adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, and Nasdaq, requires public companies to

implement specified corporate governance practices that were not applicable to us as a private company. We expect these rules and regulations will increase our legal

and financial compliance costs and will make some activities more time-consuming and costly.

 

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents along with the proceeds from the private placement in May 2023, will be sufficient to fund our operating

expenses and capital expenditure requirements into the second third quarter of 2024. We have based this estimate of cash runway on assumptions that may prove to be

wrong, and we could utilize our available capital resources sooner than we expect. We anticipate that we will continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable future.

These factors raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern for the one-year period following the date that these financial statements were

issued. We will require additional capital to conduct complete the Phase 3 studies for DMT310 for the treatment of acne, continue development of DMT310, and to

pursue in licenses in-licenses or acquisitions of other drug candidates. Therefore, based on our recurring losses from operations incurred since inception, expectation

of continuing operating losses for the foreseeable future, and the need to raise additional capital to finance future operations, we are developing plans to mitigate this

risk, which may consist of raising additional capital through some combination of equity or debt financings, and/or potentially new collaborations, business

transactions, and reducing cash expenditures. If we are not able to secure adequate additional funding, we may be forced to make significant reductions in our
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operations and the pursuit of our growth strategy. In that event, we may have to delay, scale back, or eliminate some or all of our research and development programs

and activities which could adversely affect our business prospects, or we may be unable to continue operations.
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We may raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities. In such an event, the terms of these securities may include liquidation

or other preferences that adversely affect the rights of a holder the holders of our Common Stock.

 

Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with research, development, and commercialization of pharmaceutical drugs, we are unable to

estimate the exact amount of our working capital requirements. Our future funding requirements will depend on many factors, including:

 

  · the number and characteristics of the drug candidates we pursue;

     

  · the scope, progress, results, and costs of researching and developing our drug candidates, and conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials;

     

  · the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtaining regulatory approvals for our drug candidates;

     

  · the cost of manufacturing our drug candidates and any drugs we successfully commercialize;

     

  · our ability to establish and maintain strategic collaborations, licensing or other arrangements and the financial terms of such agreements;

     

 
· the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining, defending, and enforcing patent claims, including litigation costs and the outcome of

such litigation; and

     

  · the timing, receipt and amount of sales of, or milestone payments related to or royalties on, our current or future drug candidates, if any.

 

To continue to grow our business over the longer term, we plan to commit substantial resources to research and development, clinical trials of our product

candidates, and other operations and potential product acquisitions and in licensing. We have evaluated and expect to continue to evaluate a wide array of strategic

transactions as part of our plan to acquire or in license and develop additional products and product candidates to augment our internal development pipeline.

Strategic transaction opportunities that we may pursue could materially affect our liquidity and capital resources and may require us to incur additional indebtedness,

seek equity capital or both. In addition, we may pursue development, acquisition or in licensing of approved or development products in new or existing therapeutic

areas or continue the expansion of our existing operations. Accordingly, we expect to continue to opportunistically seek access to additional capital to license or

acquire additional products, product candidates or companies to expand our operations, or for general corporate purposes. Strategic transactions may require us to

raise additional capital through one or more public or private debt or equity financings or could be structured as a collaboration or partnering arrangement. We have no

arrangements, agreements, or understandings in place at the present time to enter into any acquisition, in licensing or similar strategic business transaction.
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We do not currently own or lease any office space.

 

We enter into contracts in the normal course of business with contract research organizations for clinical trials, preclinical research studies and testing,

manufacturing and other services and products for operating purposes. These contracts generally provide for termination upon notice, and therefore we believe that

our non-cancelable obligations under these agreements are not material.
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JOBS Act Accounting Election
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We are an emerging growth company, as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (“the JOBS Act”). Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth

companies can delay adopting new or revised accounting standards issued subsequent to the enactment of the JOBS Act until such time as those standards apply to

private companies. We have irrevocably elected not to avail ourselves of this exemption from new or revised accounting standards and, therefore, will be subject to the

same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies.

 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

 

See Item 1 of Part I, “Notes to Financial Statements — Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” for a discussion of recent accounting

pronouncements.

 

ITEM 3: QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

 

Not applicable.

 

ITEM 4: CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

 

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and

procedures as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange

Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files

or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure

controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports

that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal

financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well

designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-

benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

 

Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial

Officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level. 

 

Evaluation of Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

 

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act) that occurred during the period to which

this report relates that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. Because of its inherent

limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are

subject to the risks that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may

deteriorate. From time to time, we make changes to our internal control over financial reporting that are intended to enhance its effectiveness and which do not have a

material effect on our overall internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II – OTHER INFORMATION

 

ITEM 1: LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

 

None.

 

ITEM 1A: RISK FACTORS

 

Our operations and financial results are subject to various risks and uncertainties, including those described in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in our Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on February 21, 2023,

as amended on March 28, 2023, and as further updated by our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2023, filed with the SEC on May 11,

2023 March 21, 2024. No material changes to such risk factors have occurred during the quarter ended September 30, 2023. March 31, 2024, except as follows:
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Our failure to maintain compliance with Nasdaq’s continued listing requirements could result in the desilting of our Common Stock and/or our Warrants

On November 13, 2023, we received a letter from the Listing Qualifications Staff of the Nasdaq Stock Market, LLC (“Nasdaq”) indicating that, based upon the

closing bid price of our Common Stock for the last 30 consecutive business days, we are not in compliance with the requirement to maintain a minimum bid price of

$1.00 per share for continued listing on the Nasdaq Capital Market, as set forth in Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(a)(2) (the “Notice”). We were provided a compliance

period of 180 calendar days from the date of the Notice, or until May 13, 2024, to regain compliance with the minimum closing bid requirement, pursuant to Nasdaq

Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A). On May 14, 2024, we were provided an additional compliance period of 180 calendar days, or until November 11, 2024, to regain compliance

with the minimum closing bid requirement.

We will continue to monitor the closing bid price of our Common Stock and seek to regain compliance with all applicable Nasdaq requirements within the

allotted compliance periods and may, if appropriate, consider available options, including implementation of a reverse stock split of our Common Stock, to regain

compliance with the minimum closing bid requirement. If we seek to implement a reverse stock split in order to remain listed on Nasdaq, the announcement or

implementation of such a reverse stock split could negatively affect the price of our Common Stock and/or Warrants. If we do not regain compliance within the

allotted compliance periods, including any extensions that may be granted by Nasdaq, Nasdaq will provide notice that our Common Stock and Warrants will be

subject to delisting. We would then be entitled to appeal that determination to a Nasdaq hearings panel. There can be no assurance that we will regain compliance

with the minimum bid price requirement during the 180-day compliance period or maintain compliance with the other Nasdaq listing requirements. A delisting could

substantially decrease trading in our Common Stock and Warrants, adversely affect the market liquidity of our Common Stock and Warrants as a result of the loss of

market efficiencies associated with Nasdaq and the loss of federal preemption of state securities laws, adversely affect our ability to obtain financing on acceptable

terms, if at all, and may result in the potential loss of confidence by investors, suppliers, customers and employees and fewer business development opportunities.

Additionally, the market price of our Common Stock and/or our Warrants may decline further and stockholders may lose some or all of their investment.

ITEM 2: UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

 

None. 

 

ITEM 3: DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

 

None.

 

ITEM 4: MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 

 

Not applicable.

 

ITEM 5: OTHER INFORMATION

 

(a) None.

(b) None.

(c) During the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2024, no director or “officer” (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) under the Exchange Act) of the Company adopted or

terminated any “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as each term is defined in Item 408(c) of Regulation S-K.
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ITEM 6: EXHIBITS

 

Exhibit No. Description

10.1 Second Amendment to the Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. 2021 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s

Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 3, 2023).

     

31.1*   Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).

     

31.2*   Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).

     

32.1**   Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b).
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101.INS*
 

XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline

XBRL document

101.SCH*   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL*   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF*   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB*   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE*   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104   Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibits 101)

 

* Filed herewith.

** Furnished, not filed.

† Indicates a management contract or compensation plan, contract or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,

thereunto duly authorized.

 

  Dermata Therapeutics, Inc.  

       

Date: November 9, 2023 May 6, 2024 By: /s/ Gerald T. Proehl  

    Gerald T. Proehl  

    President and Chief Executive Officer  

    (Principal Executive Officer)  

       

  By: /s/ Kyri K. Van Hoose  

    Kyri K. Van Hoose  

    Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer  

   
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting

Officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.1

 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT

TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 

I, Gerald T. Proehl, certify that:

 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, of Dermata Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
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4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in the Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))

for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those

entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external

purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially

affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board Board of directors Directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably

likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.

 

Date: November 9, 2023 May 6, 2024  

 

/s/ Gerald T. Proehl  

Gerald T. Proehl  

Chief Executive Officer  

(Principal Executive Officer)  

EXHIBIT 31.2

 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT

TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 

I, Kyri K. Van Hoose, certify that:

 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024, of Dermata Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in the Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))

for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those

entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
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b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external

purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially

affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board Board of directors Directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably

likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.

 

Date: November 9, 2023 May 6, 2024  

 

/s/ Kyri K. Van Hoose  

Kyri K. Van Hoose  

Chief Financial Officer  

(Principal Financial Officer)  

EXHIBIT 32.1

 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 

This Certification is being filed pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. This Certification is included solely

for the purpose of complying with the provisions of Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and is not intended to be used for any other purpose. In connection with the

accompanying Periodic Report on Form 10-Q of Dermata Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended September 30, 2023 March 31, 2024 (the “Quarterly

Report”), each of Gerald T. Proehl, as Chief Executive Officer, and Kyri K. Van Hoose, as Chief Financial Officer, certifies in his or her capacity as such officer of the

Company, that to such officer’s knowledge:

 

1) The Quarterly Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2) The information contained in the Quarterly Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the

Company.

 

Dated: November 9, 2023 May 6, 2024 By: /s/ Gerald T. Proehl  

Gerald T. Proehl  

Chief Executive Officer  

(Principal Executive Officer)  

 

Dated: November 9, 2023 May 6, 2024 By: /s/ Kyri K. Van Hoose  

Kyri K. Van Hoose  

Chief Financial Officer  

(Principal Financial Officer)  
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This certification shall not be deemed “filed” for any purpose, nor shall it be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or

the Exchange Act.
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